Contents lists available at ScienceDirect







Review

Soil management affects carbon and nitrogen concentrations and stable isotope ratios in vine products



Jorge E. Spangenberg^{a,*}, Vivian Zufferey^b

^a Institute of Earth Surface Dynamics (IDYST), University of Lausanne, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland
^b Research Center of Viticulture, Agroscope, CH-1009 Pully, Switzerland

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Vines were grown on bare and grasscovered soils with and without irrigation.
- δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, and C/N were determined in freeze-dried wines from all treatments.
- Cover crops increase vine water deficiency and ¹³C enrichment in vine products.
- Cover crops compete for N and force vines to use ¹⁵N-depleted organic reserves.
- Nitrogen and water deficits in covercropped vines are alleviated by irrigation.

ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Mae Sexauer Gustin

Keywords: Climate change Cover crop $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ Herbicide ban Nitrogen deficit No tillage No weeding Water status Wine solid residues Vineyards



ABSTRACT

Weeds reduce vineyard productivity and affect grape quality by competing with grapevines (Vitis vinifera L.) for water and nutrients. The increased banning of herbicides has prompted the evaluation of alternative soil management strategies. Cover cropping seems to be the best alternative for weed management. However, it may impact vine growth, grape yield, and quality. Quantitative studies on these changes are scarce. Our study aimed to investigate the combined effect of grass cover and water availability on vines of three cultivars, the white Chasselas and Petite Arvine and the red Pinot noir field-grown under identical climatic and pedological conditions and grafted onto the same rootstock. Soil management and irrigation experiments were performed during the 2020-2021 seasons. Two extreme soil management practices were established in the vineyard, based on 100 % bare soil (BS) by the application of herbicides with glufosinate or glyphosate as active ingredients and 100 % grass-covered soil (GS) by cover cropping with a mixture of plant species. Two water statuses were imposed by drip irrigation (DI) and no irrigation (NI). The level of vineweed competition for water and nitrogen (N) was assessed in the vine, must, and wine solid residues (WSRs) by comparing measurements, i.e., the yeast assimilable N content, C/N_{WSR} , carbon and N isotope ratios ($\delta^{13}C_{grape-sugars}$, δ^{13} C_{WSR}, and δ^{15} N_{WSR}) among the different treatments (BS-DI, BS-NI, GS-DI, GS-NI). The increase in the δ^{13} C_{grape-sugars} and $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values with increasing plant water deficit mimicked the observations in irrigation experiments on BS. The N_{WSR} content and $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values decreased with water stress and much more strongly in vines on GS. The dramatic N deficit in rainfed vines on GS could be alleviated with irrigation. The present study provides insights from chemical and stable isotope analyses into the potential impact of cover cropping in vineyards in the context of the banning of herbicides in a time of global water scarcity due to climate change.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: Jorge.Spangenberg@unil.ch (J.E. Spangenberg).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162410

Received 25 October 2022; Received in revised form 13 February 2023; Accepted 18 February 2023 Available online 24 February 2023 0048-9697/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction							
2.	Materials and methods							
	2.1.	Experimental site, vine cultivars, and experimental design						
	2.2.	Measurement of the grapevine water and N status						
	2.3.	Wine making, wine solid residues and C and N isotope analysis						
3.	Resul	tts and discussion						
	3.1.	Vine water status						
	3.2.	Vine nitrogan status						
	3.3.	Carbon isotope composition of wine solid residues						
	3.4.	C/N molar ratios and N isotope ratios of wine solid residues						
4.	Conclusions							
CRediT authorship contribution statement								
Data availability								
Declaration of competing interest								
Acknowledgments								
References								

1. Introduction

Grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) is a major crop of high economic value worldwide. In the context of climate warming, grapevines, similar to most crops, experience increasingly frequent, more intense, and longer water deficits during periods of extreme heat. Concurrently, viruses, bacteria, fungi, and insects have deleterious effects on berry development, resulting in low yields and poor-quality fruits (Reineke and Thiery, 2016; Pertot et al., 2017). Therefore, in conventional viticulture, pesticides, fungicides, and herbicides are used to ensure high-quality products. Weeds, grass, and other plants in vineyards may compete with the vines for water and nutrients, affecting vine growth and productivity (Ingels et al., 2005; Muscas et al., 2017). The most widely used nonselective and broad-spectrum herbicides in vineyards contain the active ingredient glufosinate (2-amino-4-[hydroxy (methyl-phosphonoyl)]butanoic acid) or glyphosate (*N*-phosphonomethyl glycine) (Zaller et al., 2018; Mandl et al., 2018; Takano and Dayan, 2020). The intensive use of glyphosate was reported to accelerate the development of resistant weed species (Sammons and Gaines, 2014; Heap and Duke, 2018). Glufosinate is used in vineyards mainly to manage glyphosateresistant weeds. The proven acute toxicity of glufosinate to humans and the environment (Zaller et al., 2018; Takano and Dayan, 2020) led to the banning of this herbicide in the European Union and Switzerland in 2020. The ecotoxicological threats posed by glyphosate to the environment and living organisms have been described in previous studies (Mann and Bidwell, 1999; Busse et al., 2001; Gill et al., 2018; Tarazona et al., 2017). The World Health Organization classified glyphosate as being probably carcinogenic to humans in 2015 (van Bruggen et al., 2018). To our knowledge, no substitute for glufosinate or glyphosate with low (or no) toxicity to the environment and living organisms is available for weed management. Therefore, the European Union and Switzerland reapproved the use of glyphosate for another five years in 2017 (van Straalen and Legler, 2018). Farmers must now look for agroecological alternatives to toxic herbicides.

Conventional weed control in vineyards relies on herbicides and tillage. Ecological alternatives to herbicides include mechanical weeding, shallow tillage (mechanical agitation of the soil), grass cutting, grazing by farm animals, soil mulching, and cover cropping. All of these are traditional techniques that have been used to manage weeds and soil surfaces before the development of herbicides. Mechanical weed control and soil management using tractors with various implements for weeding, below-surface tilling, above-surface tilling, and grass-cutting mechanisms may require high capital cost. Weeding machines can damage vine trunks and roots and are particularly challenging in sloping and mountain vineyards (Keller, 2015). Additionally, tilling disturbs the soil structure, physical properties, and microorganisms and triggers soil organic matter degradation and erosion (Raclot et al., 2009; Blavet et al., 2009; Capello et al., 2019). Periodic soil tillage alone may lead to a high erosion rate and nutrient loss in vineyards on steep slopes or mountains (Biddoccu et al., 2016; Mirás-Avalos et al., 2020). Additionally, frequent machinery traffic on sloping vineyards affects the spatial distribution of soil physical properties and water availability due to topsoil and subsoil compaction (Ferrero et al., 2005). Farm grazing animals (sheep, cattle) may be integrated into vineyards during vine dormancy to reduce the use of herbicides (by 60 %), machines, fuel, and labor and enhance soil organic matter and fertility (Niles et al., 2017; Goncalves et al., 2021; Schoof et al., 2021). Mulching involves maintaining a permanent or semipermanent protective and permeable cover on the soil surface. Mulches can be composed of different materials, such as gravel, wood chips, straw (e.g., barley straw), crop residues, hay, crushed glass, distillers grains, or plastic mulching films made from polypropylene or polyester (Nachtergaele et al., 1998; Bond and Grundy, 2001; Hostetler et al., 2007; Prosdocimi et al., 2016; Lopez-Urrea et al., 2020; Olejar et al., 2021). This cover keeps the ground surface clear, blocks light from reaching germinating weeds, limits weed growth, and reduces soil erosion and nutrient leaching (Prosdocimi et al., 2016 and references therein). Mulches can be used to weed management in vineyards and may positively affect soil temperature and hydraulic characteristics (water infiltration and evaporation), as well as vine growth and yield (Buesa et al., 2020). Soil plastic mulching may have a significant water-saving effect (Nouri et al., 2019). These eventual advantages depend on the mulch material, soil characteristics (depth, water content, organic matter content, and fertility), and climate (Nachtergaele et al., 1998; Bavougian and Read, 2018). The potential disadvantages of mulching are the challenges in obtaining mulch material, transportation costs, initial installation costs, and labor costs (Guerra and Steenwerth, 2012; Wezel et al., 2014; Bavougian and Read, 2018).

Cover cropping is an effective practice for soil management in vineyards (Tesic et al., 2007; Abad et al., 2020). It consists of replacing an unmanageable weed population with convenient, controllable cover crop species, which may yield an economic return (Teasdale, 1996). In vineyards, the soil under vines and between vine rows can be covered by crop species that remain alive for part or all of the vine growing season. Cover crop competition for water and nutrients is commonly used to mitigate vine vegetative development or vigor (Muscas et al., 2017). Competition between grapevines and cover crops for soil water and nitrogen (N), particularly in spring, when both plant types are actively growing (bloom and berry-set vine stages), can lead to severe water stress and reduce grape yield (Tesic et al., 2007). However, cover crops protect hillslope and mountain vineyards from soil erosion and the leaching of nutrients and organic matter by runoff (Bond and Grundy, 2001). Additionally, cover crops provide many services to vineyards, including reducing soil compaction, increasing soil microbial biodiversity, and enhancing soil organic carbon (C) and nutrients (Ingels et al., 2005; Gouthu et al., 2012; Vukicevich et al., 2016; Garcia-Diaz et al., 2018; Hendgen et al., 2018).

The success of weed suppression by cover crops depends on the weed species and the choice of cover plants (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Delpuech and Metay, 2018). Cover crop choices include a broad range of plants that grow naturally or spontaneously or plants that are managed (i.e., mowed or soil-incorporated seeds), typically perennials, annually self-seeding species, temporary or permanent grasses, legumes, or a mix of grasses and broadleaf plants (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002). Some cover crops may mitigate water runoff and provide water to grapevines by contributing to soil water refilling (Garcia et al., 2018). The benefits of cover cropping have been shown in vineyards in regions with a temperate climate with soil fed by abundant rainfall (Trigo-Córdoba et al., 2015; Lopez-Vicente et al., 2020) and in Mediterranean semiarid regions when drip irrigation was applied (Steenwerth et al., 2013; Abad et al., 2020; Lopez-Urrea et al., 2020; Martinez et al., 2021). These last water-deficient and highly vulnerable environments have become increasingly susceptible to the impacts of climate change. Additionally, in water-deficient soils, soil nutrient uptake by plants is strongly reduced, further triggering the vine/cover-crop competition for nutrients (Celette et al., 2009). Nitrogen is one of the critical mineral nutrients for grapevines. It is used by plants to synthesize plant amino acids (AAs), N availability mediates grapevine growth, development, and metabolism. In particular, the content and composition of yeast assimilable N (YAN) affect the kinetics and completion of the alcoholic fermentation and the formation of flavor-active metabolites, which determine the color and organoleptic properties of wines (Bell and Henschke, 2005). Low N availability and uptake decrease vine vigor, grape berry size, and yield. It also increases the sugar content and the anthocyanin and tannin concentrations, which may favor the quality of the berry juice (must), specifically for red winemaking (Matthews et al., 1990; Hilbert et al., 2003).

We recently reported that the C isotope composition (δ^{13} C values) of grape sugars (glucose and fructose) at harvest is highly correlated with the predawn leaf water potential (Ψ_{pd}) measured during the veraisonharvest period for the grapevine cultivars Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir in irrigation experiments during six seasons (2009-2014) in Valais, Switzerland (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). This link between vine water status and $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ values remained unchanged in the resulting wines and could be traced to wine volatile compounds (Spangenberg et al., 2017), wine solid residues (WSRs) (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018), and whole wine and wine ethanol (Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2019). We showed that the N isotope composition (δ^{15} N values) and content ratio of the solid residues were also well correlated with Ψ_{pd} for the same white and red wines. Building on these findings, this study aimed to assess how combined ground management and soil water status affect the C isotope composition of must sugars and the C and N isotope composition of the WSRs $(\delta^{13}C_{sugars}, C/N_{WSR}, \delta^{13}C_{WSR}, and \delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values) of the same previously studied white and red grapevine cultivars (Chasselas, Petite Arvine, Pinot noir). We expect these results to show clear trends and provide quantitative insight into the effects of cover cropping and soil water deficit on wines derived from vineyards in a Swiss Alpine valley with extreme summer droughts and cold winter periods. This study provides a dual stable isotope-based comparison of the presence and absence of a vineyard soil cover crop. One of the many added benefits of using 100 % grass cover is that herbicides use is not required. The findings will certainly deepen our understanding of how the competition of cover crops for water and nutrients impacts the C and N dynamics in the soil-water-plant system of vineyards.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental site, vine cultivars, and experimental design

The trials were performed in the vineyards of the Swiss Institute of Plant Production Sciences (Agroscope) experimental station located at Leytron (46°11′N; 7°10′E, 525 m above sea level) in the Canton of Valais, Switzerland, in 2020 and 2021. The Leytron site is in an alpine valley on an alluvial cone formed by Quaternary torrential alluvial deposits containing fragments of calcareous schists, sandstones, and marls. Leytron has a mild continental climate with hot and dry summers and is in the Cfb category according to the Köppen climate classification. The average annual precipitation and temperature of the most recent 30-year normals (1981–2010) for Valai were $603 \pm 12 \text{ mm}$ (average \pm one standard error, 1 SE) and 10.1 °C, respectively (Table 1). The temperature and precipitation values were measured at the meteorological station located at the experimental site (Leytron meteorological station, www.agrometeo.ch).

The stony-gravelly soil (peyrosol) of the vineyard is well-drained, and the water-holding capacity is approximately 150 mm in the whole soil profile (Zufferey et al., 2017). Water runoff and soil erosion are very low at the experimental site, mainly due to a nearly zero slope area and relatively low rainfall. The soil depth, structure, water-holding capacity, and fertility are uniform at the vineyard scale (soil chemical analyses in in the Supplementary Table S2 of Spangenberg et al., 2020).

The experimental design included two soil management practices, two soil water statuses, and three *Vitis vinifera* L. cultivars, including the grapevines Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir. The white vines Chasselas (clone 14/33-4) and Petite Arvine (massale selection) and the red vine Pinot noir (clone 9/18) were grafted onto *Vitis berlandieri* × *Vitis riparia* cv. Kober 5BB rootstock in 1995. The vines were planted in a single Guyot training system (vertical shoot position), trellised on wires, with 60 cm trunk height, and pruned to six shoots per plant. The planting density was 5500 vines ha⁻¹, and the vines were spaced 1.8 × 1.0 m (row spacing × vine spacing) apart in east–west oriented rows (Zufferey et al., 2018). All the vines were 25 years old at the start of the experiment in 2020.

The vines were grown under the same natural environmental conditions, i.e., the same soil and climate components, such as light intensity and duration, air and soil temperature, air humidity, and wind speed. The vines of the white grape cultivars Chasselas and Petite Arvine were subjected annualy to a foliar urea treatment, with weekly applications of 5 kg N ha⁻¹ for four weeks during the onset of ripening (veraison), corresponding to days of the year (DOY) 220 and 240. The urea-based fertilizer had almost stoichiometric C and N levels (19.7 wt% C and 44.8 wt% N), a δ^{13} C value of -40.01 ± 0.03 mUr and a δ^{15} N value of -2.35 ± 0.09 mUr (Supplementary Table S2 of Spangenberg et al., 2020). The content of natural N in the soil was sufficient to support the Pinot noir plant requirements without the addition of N fertilizer (Spring et al., 2012).

Similar to previous irrigation experiments, each treatment had 40 plants in a randomized four-block design of 10 vines per block (Zufferey et al., 2018). Two extreme soil management practices were applied to the undervine and interrow soils: 100 % bare soils (BS) and 100 % grass-

Table 1

Climate data at the experimental site of Leytron (Valais, Switzerland) during 2020 and 2021^a compared to the 30-year normals (1981–2010) mean \pm standard error (SE) of the mean (data available at www.agrometeo.ch).

			-			
Month	Monthly precipitation rate (mm)			Monthly mean temperature (°C)		
	2020	2021	1981–2010 mean ± SE	2020	2021	1981–2010 mean ± SE
January	25	116	51 ± 6	2.3	0.3	-0.1 ± 0.4
February	81	35	47 ± 10	6.1	5.8	1.8 ± 0.3
March	82	40	42 ± 7	7.2	7.3	6.5 ± 0.3
April	25	16	35 ± 8	14	10.2	10.4 ± 0.4
May	50	100	49 ± 10	16.2	12.5	14.9 ± 0.3
June	68	44	54 ± 8	18.9	20.4	18.1 ± 0.4
July	31	139	58 ± 6	21.6	19.5	20.1 ± 0.3
August	112	49	57 ± 6	20.6	18.9	19.2 ± 0.2
September	37	43	44 ± 9	17.1	17.4	15.2 ± 0.3
October	82	20	52 ± 7	10.2	10.7	10.3 ± 0.2
November	5	16	52 ± 7	6.4	4.8	4.3 ± 0.2
December	39	108	64 ± 9	2.5	0.2	0.6 ± 0.3
Year	627	726	603 ± 12	11.9	10.7	10.1 ± 0.2

^a The 2020 growing season (April–October) was characterized by a hot and dry summer and in 2021 by a cooler spring and relatively hot and humid summer with late frosts.

covered soils (GS). The BS blocks had fully weed-free grounds obtained by chemical weeding (no tillage), with four applications of herbicide between April and July per season. In 2020, the herbicide Basta® with the active ingredient glufosinate (200 g L⁻¹) was used at a dose of 4 L ha⁻¹ per application. Glufosinate was banned in the European Union and Switzerland in 2020. Therefore, in 2021, the herbicide Roundup® with the active ingredient glyphosate (450 g L^{-1}) was used at a dose of 5 L ha⁻¹ per application. The GS treatment consisted of covering the undervine and interrow soils with a mixture of selected permanent species (no tillage). The floristic composition of the cover crop consisted of a mixture (MCS4 mixture, Delabays et al., 2016) of six selected plant species, i.e., Bromus tectorum, Poa compressa, Medicago lupulina, Lotus corniculus, Sanguisorba minor, and Brunella vulgaris. The two soil-plant water status regimes were obtained by drip irrigation (DI) with a weekly feed of 9 L m⁻² between flowering and fruit ripening and no irrigation (NI) with natural rainfall as the only soil water supply throughout the growing season. The DI vines were well watered during the growing season, and the rain-fed NI vines were potentially water-stressed in spring-summer. Four treatments were applied to the Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir vines by combining the soil management practices (BS, GS) with the soil water regimes (DI, NI): BS-DI, BS-NI, GS-DI, and GS-NI. All physiological (e.g., stem water potential, chlorophyll index) and agronomic (e.g., sugar content, acidity, yeast assimilable N of the grape juice) measurements were performed in replicate vines from each block per treatment, variety, and growing season.

2.2. Measurement of the grapevine water and N status

The vine water status was assessed by measuring the stem water potential (Ψ_{stem} in megapascal, MPa) and the C isotope composition of the grape sugars ($\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ in mUr vs. VPDB, see Section 2.3). The midday Ψ_{stem} was shown, compared to the predawn leaf water potential (Ψ_{pd}), to be the most discriminating and sensitive indicator for moderate and severe plant water deficits (Chone et al., 2001). The midday Ψ_{stem} measurements were performed using a pressure chamber (Model 3005 Soil Moisture Equipment Corp., Santa Barbara, CA, USA) between 1400 and 1500 GMT, when evapotranspiration was at a maximum. The measurements were performed weekly, from bloom (June) to harvest (September), on two single mature, undamaged, nonsenescent, and nontranspiring leaves from two vines of each block per treatment. The Ψ_{stem} values reported here are average values of all technical replicates measured during the veraison-harvest period in the four biological replicates per treatment. For non-water-stressed grapevines, the Ψ_{stem} value is higher than -0.6 MPa; for values between -0.6and -0.9 MPa to -0.9 and -1.1 MPa, the water deficit is low to moderate, respectively, and when the Ψ_{stem} values are lower than -1.1 MPa, the plant is highly water-stressed (van Leeuwen et al., 2009). Additionally, the Ψ_{pd} was measured two times during veraison-harvest (results in Supplementary Tables S1 and S2) to facilitate the comparison with the results from the previous irrigation experiments at Leytron with the same vine varieties (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). Soil water potential has been shown to be well correlated with Ψ_{nd} (Bréda et al., 1995) only when the soil water conditions are homogeneous (Améglio et al., 1999). As the soil water conditions are homogeneous at Leytron vineyards, we could safely use Ψ_{pd} or Ψ_{stem} as a reasonable proxy for soil water availability.

The N status of the vines was assessed in the vineyard by measuring the leaf chlorophyll index (LCI) (Spring and Zufferey, 2000) and in the grape berries by measuring the YAN. The LCI values were used to monitor the leaf chlorophyll content at veraison. For this purpose, the LCI was measured every three weeks in 30 mature primary leaves randomly selected in the medial part of the canopy from the 10 vines from each replicate block per treatment using an N-Tester chlorophyll meter (Yara, Paris, France). The instrument provided the average LCI measurements per block, providing four replicates for each treatment. The grapes from the four replicate blocks per treatment were harvested separately. The YAN was determined in aliquots of berry juice from each block (i.e., four replicates per treatment) using near-infrared spectroscopy (FOSS WineScan® instrument, FOSS, Hillerød,

Denmark) at the oenological laboratory at Agroscope Changins, Switzerland. The YAN content is the total N fraction (expressed in mg N L^{-1}) in grape juice available to yeast for alcoholic fermentation. The YAN comprises ammonium ions (NH₄⁺) and free amino acids (AAs), except for proline and hydroxyproline.

2.3. Wine making, wine solid residues and C and N isotope analysis

Grape yield (kg m⁻²) was determined by individually harvesting the vines per treatment block. The grapes of the four treatment replicates were pooled for a single vinification per treatment. The sugars were separated and purified from must aliquots in solution using Dowex 50 V/X8 cation exchange resin (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) and the anion exchange resin Merck III (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in the laboratories of Agroscope. The δ^{13} C_{sugars} values were determined at the stable isotope laboratories of the Institute of Earth Surface Dynamics of the University of Lausanne (IDYST-UNIL). The δ^{13} C value of the sugar fraction of the juice of mature berries (shortly before harvest) integrates the photosynthetic C isotope fractionation during the entire period between bloom and harvest (Gaudillère et al., 2002). The sugars in the berry juices or musts may contain some contribution from the remobilized root carbohydrate reserves from previous seasons; their effect on the $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ of berry juice is most likely minimal (Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). Wines were prepared for the single treatments, for each variety and season, using the same yeast strains (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) and vinification protocol at the Agroscope research winery (Changins-Wädenswill, Switzerland). The vinification procedure is described in detail in Supplementary Text S1. Here, it is important to note that no supplementary N nutrients for yeast were added to the must. There was only one difference in the production of red and white wines. The making of white wines (Chasselas and Petite Arvine) was performed by alcoholic fermentation of the grape juices without skin; for making red wine (Pinot noir), the crushed complete grape (with exocarp) was fermented. The exocarp contains most of the grape N (mainly in proteins and breakdown products) and promotes fermentation with the indigenous microflora. Four wines were produced per grape variety and season, corresponding to the four treatments (BS-DI, BS-NI, GS-DI, and GS-Ni). Two bottles of each wine were brought to the IDYST-UNIL laboratories and stored in the dark at 4 °C until use.

The solid wine residues were obtained by freeze-drying aliquots of wine. The freeze-drying process was performed in duplicate with wine aliquots from separate bottles. For each wine bottle, a subsample of 25 mL was transferred to 50 mL LDPE bottles (wide-necked bottles with screw caps, VWR International AG, Dietikon, Switzerland) and frozen at -20 °C for two days before being freeze-dried on a Lyovac GT2 freeze dryer (SRK Systemtechnik GmbH, Goddelau, Germany) for 48 h. The freeze-dried wines were stored at -20 °C until isotopic analyses, which were performed in duplicate and repeated one or, occasionally, two times. The C isotope composition of must sugars and the C and N isotope compositions of WSR (four to eight analytical replicates each, see below) were determined for each treatment (BS-DI, BS-NI, GS-DI, and GS-NI), variety, and season (2020, 2021).

The C and N isotope compositions were determined by continuous helium (He) flow elemental analysis/isotope ratio mass spectrometry (EA/IRMS) using an elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba 1108, Fisons Instruments, Milan, Italy) connected to an isotope ratio mass spectrometer via a split interface (Delta V Plus and ConFlo III, both from Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). The C and N contents and isotope ratios were determined by separated combustions using different sets of dedicated calibration standards and sample aliquots of different weight sizes. The isotopic compositions were reported in the delta (δ) notation corresponding to the relative deviations of the molar ratio (R) of the heavy (^hE, ¹³C or ¹⁵N) to light (^lE, ¹²C or ¹⁴N) isotopes in the samples from that in international standards:

$$\delta^{i} E_{sample} = \frac{R({}^{h} E/{}^{l} E)_{sample}}{R({}^{h} E/{}^{l} E)_{standard}}.$$
(1)

For δ^{13} C values, the standard is Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite limestone (VPDB); for δ^{15} N values, the standard is Air-N₂ (molecular N in air). The International System of Units (SI) unit for the delta values is the urey (symbolized Ur), according to the guidelines and recommendations of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC)-Commission on Isotopic Abundances and Atomic Weights (Brand and Coplen, 2012). The δ -values from the above equation were multiplied by 1000, and the unit is milliurey (mUr), synonym of the deprecated per mil (‰), which is not an SI unit. The isotopic ratios were normalized using a three-point calibration with in-house and international reference materials. The repeatability and intermediate precision of the EA/IRMS δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N measurements were determined by the standard deviation of separately replicated analyses (n = 4 to 6) and were better than ± 0.1 mUr. The total organic C and N contents (wt% TOC and TN, respectively) were determined from the sum of the major peak areas. The repeatability was better than 0.2 wt% for C and N concentrations. Further details on the EA/IRMS analysis and the standards used for the calibration and normalization of measured δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values can be found in Supplementary Text S1.

The field and laboratory measurements are presented in a graphical (plot layout, symbol type, and colors) and statistical style similar to the published results for irrigation experiments with the same vine varieties at the same experimental station in Leytron (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018) to allow comparison and reassessments. Data were compiled using Microsoft Excel V16.65 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA) and SPSS V20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for statistical analyses. The results are reported as the mean ± standard error (SE) from for biological replicates per treatment for Ψ_{stem} , LCI, YAN content, and yield and from analytical replicates per treatment for $\delta^{13}C_{\text{sugars}}$ (n = 6), $\delta^{13}C_{\text{WSR}}$ (n = 4–6), and $\delta^{15}N_{\text{WSR}}$ (n = 8). The data were tested for homogeneity of variance (F test), and the comparisons between the means of each group were performed by paired-samples

Student's *t*-tests with the significance level set at P < 0.05. Graphics were prepared using DeltaGraph V7.1.3 (Red Rock Software Inc., Salt Lake City, UT, USA), Adobe Illustrator 2022 V27.1.1 (Adobe Systems Inc., CA, USA), and 2022 Microsoft PowerPoint V16.69.1. Pearson correlation coefficients and linear regression lines were calculated with Microsoft Excel V16.65 and DeltaGraph V7.1.3.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Vine water status

The Ψ_{stem} values of the Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir vines from the different soil management and irrigation treatments are presented in Fig. 1 and Supplementary Tables S1 and S2. The changes in the plant water status were determined primarily from the soil water availability established by the soil water treatments (DI, NI), and in the case of rainfed vines, combined with the dryness of the vintage summer (hot and dry in 2020, humid and warm in 2021). The lowest Ψ_{stem} values were measured in 2020 grapevines grown on grass-covered and nonirrigated soils $(-1.16 \pm 0.05 \text{ MPa for Pinot noir}, -1.38 \pm 0.04 \text{ MPa for Chasselas},$ and -1.43 ± 0.06 MPa for Petite Arvine; Table S2). The high waterstressed plants (i.e., with Ψ_{stem} values lower than -1.1 MPa, van Leeuwen et al., 2009) were the nonirrigated Chasselas and Petite Arvine vines for both 2020 treatments (BS-NI, GS-NI; Ψ_{stem} values between -1.43 and -1.22 MPa) and Pinot noir BS-NI vines of 2020 (– 1.16 MPa). The only nonwater-stressed vines (i.e., with Ψ_{stem} values higher than -0.6 MPa) were the Pinot noir (-0.49 ± 0.03 MPa), Petite Arvine (-0.55 ± 0.03 MPa), and Chasselas (-0.61 ± 0.03 MPa) vines on rainfed bare soils in 2021.

The $\delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ values of all must samples (grape varieties, soil management, irrigation treatments, 2020 and 2021 seasons) varied between



Fig. 1. Physiological and agronomic parameters of Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during the 2020 and 2021 growing seasons. The error bars represent the standard error (SE) of the mean from four biological replicates for the stem water potential (Ψ_{stem}), leaf chlorophyll index (LCI), yeast assimilable nitrogen (YAN) in must, and crop yield. Columns with different lower-case letters are significantly different at P < 0.05 according to Student's *t*-test.

-27.43 and -23.76 mUr (-26.19 ± 1.05 mUr) (Fig. 2, Tables S1 and S2). This 3.7 mUr wide range of $\delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ values shows the strong impact of water availability on the C isotope composition of plant products. The relationship between vine water status and the C isotope composition of must sugars in vineyards was first reported by Gaudillère et al. (2002). We previously used this link to trace the water deficit in irrigation experiments at Leytron (Switzerland) with Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir during the 2009 to 2016 growing seasons (Zufferey et al., 2017, 2018, 2020). The $\delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ and Ψ_{stem} values were highly correlated for all grapevines (Fig. 3A, Pearson correlation coefficient, r = -0.86, P < 0.00001, n = 24) and for the individual vine varieties (Fig. 3B–D, with all having the same r =-0.91, P < 0.002, n = 8). However, there were differences in the δ - $^{13}\text{C}_{\text{sugars}}\text{-}\Psi_{\text{stem}}$ relationship between the white and red grapevine varieties (Figs. 3B–D and Table S2). For Chasselas and Petite Arvine, the $\Delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ values varied between -27.0 and -23.8 mUr, covering a range (abbreviated as $\Delta^{13}C_{sugars}$) of 3.27 and 3.63 mUr, respectively. These shifts in $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ corresponded to changes in the Ψ_{stem} values (abbreviated as $\Delta \Psi_{\text{stem}}$) of 0.77 MPa for Chasselas and 0.88 MPa for Petite Arvine. In Pinot noir vines, the shifts in the $\delta^{13} \rm C_{sugar}$ and $\Psi_{\rm stem}$ values were smaller: 2.74 mUr for $\Delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ and 0.67 MPa for $\Delta\Psi_{stem}$. The differences per variety in the $\Delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ and $\Delta\Psi_{stem}$ values suggest that Chasselas and Petite Arvine vines responded to changes in the undervine soil treatments and soil water supply conditions to a similar extent. These responses were more pronounced than those of Pinot noir grapevines. This observation may be related to the high environmental metabolic and phenotypic plasticity of Pinot noir leaves (Castagna et al., 2017). In this context, we recently showed a higher rate of epicuticular wax accumulation on Pinot noir leaves than on Chasselas leaves in response to plant water deficit (Spangenberg et al., 2020). The changes in the concentrations and δ^{13} C values of the leaf-surface lipids provided evidence for higher plasticity and environmental adaptability in Pinot noir than in Chasselas.

3.2. Vine nitrogan status

The LCI values at veraison and the YAN content in grape juice are depicted in Fig. 1 and listed in Tables S1 and S2. The LCI values varied between 370 and 716 for all treatments and vine varieties. All Pinot noir vines had relatively high LCI values (522–727, 615 \pm 74) compared to the white grapevine varieties, and the highest values were measured in well-watered grapevines on bare soils during 2020 (Table S2). In Chasselas and Petite Arvine, the higher LCI values were measured in rainfed vines on bare soils in the 2021 season. Lower LCI values were measured in vines on grass-covered grounds in both seasons (Figs. 1 and S1). The LCI estimates the N supply, uptake, and physiological development of the plant and, as such, provides an indication of potential vine N deficiencies (Nacry et al., 2013). In water-deficient soils, soluble N is limited, strongly restricting the plant uptake of N. The vine-weed competition for water and watersoluble N further hampers the dynamics and vine N uptake from grasscovered soils. Nitrogen deficiency in the GS-NI vines was evidenced in the field by changes in leaf color and lower plant vigor. The leaf color change generally started after veraison in young leaves and shoot tips, and the margin of mature leaves changed to pale green and yellowish green. The progressive changes in leaf color, vine vigor, and chlorophyll content during the 2020 season suggested that the nonirrigated vines on grass-covered soils were under water- and N-stress compared to the well-watered vines on bare soils. These stresses resulted from a dynamic competition for water, nutrients, and growth between the shallow-rooted grasses (<15 cm) and grapevines. These results are in line with the findings of a



Fig. 2. Carbon and nitrogen contents and isotope ratios of products from Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021. The error bars represent the standard error (SE) of the mean from replicate determinations of the carbon isotope composition of must sugars ($\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$, n = 6) and wine solid residue ($\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$, n = 4-6), C/N molar ratio (n = 4-6), and nitrogen isotope composition of wine solid residue ($\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$, n = 8). Columns with different lower-case letters are significantly different at P < 0.05 according to Student's *t*-test.



Fig. 3. Carbon isotope composition of must sugars ($\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$) versus the stem water potential (Ψ_{stem}) of all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021.

previous study, showing that cover crop in an unfertilized vineyard under the Mediterranean climate triggered competition for soil N (Celette et al., 2009).

The YAN content in musts provided further insight into the extent of the N deficiency. For all vines, the YAN content varied between 65 and 251 mg L^{-1} (Fig. 1 and Tables S1 and S2). At the variety level, the Petite Arvine musts had YAN levels (178.8 \pm 42.5 mg L⁻¹) similar to those of Pinot noir (172.1 \pm 52.0 mg L⁻¹) and higher (statistically significant for plants grown under the same conditions, Fig. 1) than those of Chasselas $(156.2 \pm 54.8 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$. The correlation coefficients between the YAN and Ψ_{stem} values were significant at *P* < 0.05 for all vines (*r* = 0.48, *P* = 0.017, n = 24) but not for the individual vine varieties (Supplementary Fig. S2). Among all varieties, the highest YAN levels were measured in the vines of the BS-DI treatment in both seasons (Fig. 1). For Pinot noir and Petite Arvine, the YAN contents were higher in the BS-NI treatment during the warm and humid season of 2021. All treatments with grasscovered soil, regardless of the soil-water treatment (well-watered or rainfed) and season climate, had similar low YAN levels (Figs. 1 and S2B-D). These observations suggest that YAN concentrations decrease more severely because of vine/cover-crop competition for N rather than as an effect of restriction of the uptake of water-soluble N in water-deficient rainfed vines on bare soil (e.g., BS-DI vs. GS-DI and BS-DI vs. BS-NI in Figs. 1, S2B-D). This result is important because it shows that weeds compete for N even if the soil is well irrigated and contains water-soluble N. This statement is valid for the studied vine cultivars (Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir) and the cover cropping MCS4 mixture.

Finally, a minimal amount $(140 \text{ mg N L}^{-1})$ of assimilable amino-N is required to ensure the completion of the alcoholic fermentation of grape juices and obtain high-quality wine (Jiranek et al., 1995; Garde-Cerdan and Ancin-Azpilicueta, 2008; Garde-Cerdán et al., 2014). Clear musts of white grapes with YAN $< 140 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ and an average sugar concentration have a high risk of stuck and sluggish alcoholic fermentation (Bisson and Butzke, 2000; Bell and Henschke, 2005). In musts of red grapes, the YAN threshold is lower due to the longer contact of the berry skin with grape juice, allowing microorganisms to degrade leaf proteins, releasing N compounds (e.g., amino acids) that contribute to the total YAN content. It was recently shown that the minimum YAN levels required for the successful fermentation of Pinot noir musts were as low as 100 mg L⁻¹ (Schreiner et al., 2018). These minimal limits for YAN may be underestimated for must with high concentrations of sugars (Childs et al., 2015). High-sugar musts are being obtained more frequently in the context of ongoing climate change. All of the musts from the Chasselas vines on grass-covered soils had

very low YAN content (71–83 mg L⁻¹). Such low levels of YAN in must would require a relatively high N supplementation for complete fermentation. For Petite Arvine, the musts from the ground grass-covered vines from the hot and dry 2020 had low and marginal YAN levels for both soil water treatments (140 and 135 mg L^{-1} , for DI and NI, respectively). All of the Pinot noir grape musts had YAN > 120 mg L^{-1} , and the values were relatively low for the cover crop treatments (Figs. 1 and S2). Moderate correlations were observed between YAN and LCI (r = 0.47, P = 0.020, n = 24) for all vines (Table S1). However, high YAN-LCI correlations (significant at P < 0.005) were observed in the white grape varieties (r = 0.90 with P =0.002 for Chasselas, r = 0.89 with P = 0.003 for Petite Arvine) and were acceptable (P < 0.05) for Pinot noir (r = 0.71 with P = 0.049) (Fig. S3, Table S2). The differences in the YAN-LCI correlations for all vines and percultivar vines may be explained by differences in N uptake and N metabolism for the studied cultivars/genotypes. The YAN of Pinot noir musts may contain soluble amino acids and proteins released from grape berry skin during maceration (e.g., degradation of cell wall proteins) (Aron and Kennedy, 2007; Zietsman et al., 2015). These results are in line with a

reported cultivar-specificity of the YAN concentrations, which is stronger in red than in white grapevine cultivars (Petrovic et al., 2019).

For Chasselas, no clear differences in crop yield were observed between the 2020 and 2021 seasons and due to the combined cover-crop and irrigation treatments (Fig. 1, Tables S1 and S2). For Petite Arvine and Pinot Noir, the crop yields were higher in 2020 compared to 2021 for all treatments.

3.3. Carbon isotope composition of wine solid residues

The WSRs had total organic C (TOC_{WSR}) contents between 30.3 and 35.3 wt% (32.8 ± 1.3 wt%), with C isotope compositions ($\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$) of – 29.66 to – 25.88 mUr (–28.58 ± 0.98 mUr) (Fig. 2 and Tables S1 and S2). The differences between the $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ and $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values ($\Delta^{13}C_{sugars-WSR} = \delta^{13}C_{sugars} - \delta^{13}C_{WSR}$) for all wine varieties were on average 2.39 ± 0.77 mUr (2.59 ± 0.42 mUr for Chasselas, 1.57 ± 0.55 mUr for Petite Arvine, and 3.01 ± 0.45 mUr for Pinot noir; Table S2). These differences match the C isotope fractionation of 2 mUr associated with the fermentation of C₃-derived glucose to ethanol (Hobbie and Werner, 2004).



Fig. 4. Carbon isotope composition of wine solid residue ($\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$) versus the must sugars ($\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$) of all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021.

The higher $\Delta^{13}C_{sugars-WSR}$ values for Pinot noir were due to the relatively lower $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values compared to those of Chasselas and Petite Arvine. The relatively lower $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ of Pinot noir wines can be explained by the contribution of ¹³C-depleted compounds (e.g., lipids such as fatty acids and esters) released from grape skin in must during maceration and alcoholic fermentation. Lower $\delta^{\hat{1}\hat{3}}C_{WSR}$ values were measured in Pinot noir wines derived from drip-irrigated GS and BS vines in the 2020 season and rainfed BS vines in the 2021 season (Fig. 4). The highest $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values were in Petite Arvine wines from the 2020 rainfed BS and GC vines. The $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values were highly correlated with $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ (r = 0.71, P =0.0001, n = 24) for the three cultivars (Fig. 4). The high correlation between the $\delta^{13}C_{sugar}$ and the degree of plant water deficit (r=-0.86 for δ - ${}^{13}C_{sugars}-\Psi_{stem}$, P < 0.00001, n = 24; Fig. 3) was well preserved in the WSRs $(r = 0.75 \text{ for } \delta^{13}C_{WSR} - \Psi_{stem}, P < 0.0001, n = 24)$ (Fig. 5). The $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ - Ψ_{stem} relationships exhibited similar regression lines for the three vine varieties. These $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ - Ψ_{stem} relationships mimic the $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ - Ψ_{pd} relationships reported for the same white and red wine varieties from the 2009–2014 irrigation experiments on bare soil (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). The 2020 and 2021 results confirm that the linear relationship between the δ^{13} C values of the solid residue from freeze-dried wines and a measure of the degree of plant water stress $(\delta^{13}C_{WSR}-\Psi_{pd} \text{ or } \delta^{13}C_{WSR}-\Psi_{stem})$ is most likely valid for all varieties. However, notably, the intercepts of the $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}-\Psi_{pd/stem}$ regression equations may change. The Petite Arvine WSRs from the 2009–2015 irrigation experiments were systematically ¹³C-enriched by ca. + 1.1 mUr compared to those of Chasselas and Pinot noir (Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). These differences between cultivars were confirmed in the 2020–2021 soil management trials. The $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values for Petite Arvine were consistently higher than those for the other varieties, i.e., +1.12 ± 0.20 mUr for Chasselas and +1.47 ± 0.28 mUr for Pinot noir (Table S2). Further studies using the same approach in other cultivars and environmental settings (i.e., climate, soil type) will permit the exclusion of a cultivar effect on the changes in the $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ values due to the vine water stress level.

3.4. C/N molar ratios and N isotope ratios of wine solid residues

The TN_{WSR} values for all wine samples ranged from 0.15 to 0.94 wt%, without significant differences among the varieties (0.48 \pm 0.21 wt% for Chasselas, 0.46 \pm 0.25 wt% for Petite Arvine, 0.58 \pm 0.28 wt% for Pinot noir) (Tables S1 and S2). The difference between the TN_{WSR} values of both types of soil management (Δ TN_{GS-BS}) for the different irrigation treatments (DI, NI), seasons (220,2021), and wine varieties (Chasselas, Petite



Fig. 5. Carbon isotope composition of wine solid residue ($\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$) versus the stem water potential (Ψ_{stem}) of all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021.

Arvine, and Pinot noir) varied from -0.51 to -0.03 wt% (Table S1, Fig. S4). Lower TN contents were measured in wines on grass-covered soils, and the levels were even lower in wines from rainfed vines of the hot and dry 2020 summer. These trends were clearly seen in Pinot noir and Chasselas and not in Petite Arvine, which showed atypical behavior similar to that reported for the 2009-2015 irrigation experiments (Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). Further details on the variation in the N content in wines with soil management can be seen in the bar plots of the C/N_{WSR} molar ratios and the C/N_{WSR}- Ψ_{stem} scatterplots (Figs. 2 and 6). There was a clear separation between the BS vs. GS and DI vs. NI wines in the C/N_{WSR}- Ψ_{stem} space for Chasselas and Pinot noir (Fig. 6B and D), comparable to that observed for vines in the LCI- Ψ_{stem} and YAN- Ψ_{stem} plots (Figs. S1 and S2). The C/N_{WSR} ratios increased (lower TN content) in the order BS-DI < GS-DI < BS-NI < GS-NI for Chasselas and Pinot noir (Fig. 6B and D). Again, for Petite Arvine, the C/N_{WSB} - Ψ_{stem} relationships were not clear. The extreme N deficit in the GS-NI wines was due to the combined effect of vine-weed competition for N and the restriction of N uptake by roots in water-deficient soils. The effect of immobilization of soil N by microbial biomass, which would be expected to be greater in grass-covered soils than bare soils, cannot be excluded (Steenwerth and Belina, 2008). On the other hand, wines from well-watered vines on grass-covered soil had similar (i.e., Chasselas and Petite Arvine from 2021) or slightly lower (Chasselas and Petite Arvine from 2020 and Pinot noir wines for both seasons) N contents than the wines from drip irrigation treatments.

The N isotope compositions of the WSRs showed clear trends with the vine water status (Figs. 2 and 7). The δ^{15} N_{WSR}- Ψ_{stem} plots (Fig. 7B–D) depicted clear trends that mimicked the level of the N deficit between vines on cover-crop and bare soils observed in the C/N_{WSB} - Ψ_{stem} and TN_{WSR} - Ψ_{stem} relationships for the three varieties (Fig. 6B–D and S4B–D). All of the wines showed a very clear trend toward lower $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values for vines on cover-cropped soil. The difference between the $\delta^{15}N_{\rm WSR}$ values of both types of soil management ($\Delta^{15}N_{GS-BS}$) for the different irrigation treatments, vine varieties, and seasons varied between -2.9 (Pinot noir, GS-BS/NI, hot and dry 2020) and -0.4 mUr (Chasselas and Petit Arvine, GS-BS/DI, warm and humid 2021). The most significant negative $\Delta^{15}N_{GS-1}$ _{BS} value (-2.9 mUr) corresponded to the largest Δ TN_{WSR} difference of -0.51 wt%. The depletion in ¹⁵N was enhanced by the water deficit, which could be assessed by comparing the $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values of the DI vs. NI conditions for the same soil management (Fig. 7). Notably, the shift in the δ^{15} N_{WSR} values induced by soil management and the soil water deficit in the dry and hot 2020 season ($\Delta^{15}N_{GS/NI-BS/NI} = -2.9 \text{ mUr}$) was approximately three times the largest $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ shift induced only by water stress



Fig. 6. C/N molar ratio of wine solid residue versus stem water potential (Ψ_{stem}) for all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021. A dashed line joins the two soil management practices for the same irrigation treatment.



Fig. 7. Nitrogen isotope composition of the wine solid residue ($\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$) versus the stem water potential (Ψ_{stem}) of all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021. A dashed line joins the two soil management practices for the same irrigation treatment.

reported for the 2009-2014 irrigation experiments. The maximal effect on the δ^{15} N_{WSR} values induced by water stress in the vines on bare soil was assessed by measuring the difference between the $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ of wine from nonirrigated and plastic-covered-soil vines and the drip-irrigated vines from the hot and dry 2009, 2010, and 2011 seasons ($\angle 1^{15}N_{NI-NIP} = -1.2$ mUr) (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018). The N isotope composition and N content (C/N molar ratio or TN content) in the WSRs were highly correlated (Figs. 8 and S5). The lower $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values corresponded to the lower $\ensuremath{\text{TN}_{\text{WSR}}}$ values in the water-stressed vines (Figs. 6, 7, S4, and S5). This shift mimics that previously observed for the same wines (Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir) from the 2009-2014 irrigation experiment on bare soils. The trend toward lower δ ¹⁵N values in vine products with increasing water deficit indicates the remobilization of organic N (i.e., proteins and their degradation products) from root reserves (Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018 and references therein). Finally, no statistically significant linear correlations were found in TN_{WSR} vs. YAN and $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ vs. $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$.

The strong correlations between $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ and Ψ_{stem} (Fig. 3), $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ and $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}$ (Fig. 4), and $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}$ and Ψ_{stem} (Fig. 5) in the grapevines under the two soil surface management conditions and irrigation treatments indicated that the primary photosynthetic C isotope fractionation, which is affected by the plant water status (assessed by Ψ_{stem} or Ψ_{pd}), was well preserved in the WSRs for the different grapevine varieties (Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir). In this study, the vine water status and the δ^{13} C values reflected the soil water availability to plants and, in the case of the GS treatments, the vine competition for water with grasses. Therefore, the $\delta^{13}C_{\text{sugars}}$ - $\Psi_{\text{stem/pd}}$ and $\delta^{13}C_{\text{WSR}}$ - $\Psi_{\text{stem/pd}}$ relationships mimicked those found for the same cultivars when different irrigation regimes induced different levels of water deficit in vines growing on weed-free soils during the 2009–2014 seasons (Fig. 9).

The situation is different for nitrogen. The TN_{WSR} content and $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ value reflect the must N status and source. The concentrations of soluble N species available for uptake by plant roots are very low in water-deficient soils. This N restriction is increased by the efficient competition of weeds for N. The shift toward lower TN values (higher C/N molar ratios) was associated with a decrease in the $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ values (Figs. 6, 7, and S4) when increasing water deficit and vine-weed competition for N induced a higher contribution of ^{15}N -depleted N stored in roots. The relative importance of these concurrent processes, i.e., the restriction of water-soluble N and vine-and-grass N competition, can be assessed by comparing the C/N- Ψ_{pd} and $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$ - Ψ_{pd} relationships of the WSRs from the 2020–2021 soil management experiments with those from the 2009–2014 irrigation



Fig. 8. C/N molar ratio versus the nitrogen isotope composition of the wine solid residue ($\delta^{15}N_{WSR}$) of all vines (A) and the Chasselas (B), Petite Arvine (C), and Pinot noir (D) vines grown under different soil management practices (BS = bare soil, GS = grass-covered soil) and water treatments (DI = drip irrigation, NI = no irrigation) during 2020 and 2021.

experiments where all of the vines were on bare ground (Fig. 9C, D). Nine of the 24 2020–2021 samples plot outside the field defined by the 2009–2014 wines. These apparent outliers with higher C/N molar ratios (lower N concentrations) and lower δ^{15} N_{WSR} values corresponded to all of the 2021 non-irrigated vines and the Petite Arvine and Pinot noir vines on rainfed grass-covered soils from the hot and dry 2020 season (see details in Supplementary Figs. S5–S6).

The soil management and irrigation treatments changed the wine characteristics. The Chasselas and Petite Arvine wines from vines that have suffered from water and N stress on nonirrigated grass-covered soil were less appreciated at testing (i.e., loss of typicity, notes of astringency and bitterness) compared to wines from vines on irrigated bare soil. The Pinot noir wines were more colorful and richer in phenolic compounds and had preferred tasting under moderate to high water stress. Cover crops did not significantly affect the olfactory and taste attributes of these red wines. These wine characteristics support the hypothesis that Pinot noir grapevines may adapt better to different soil water conditions and soil management practices than the white grapevines Chasselas and Petite Arvine. We showed, for the three grapevine varieties, that well-watered vines on grass-covered soil produced grapes and wines similar to those obtained by conventional soil management with herbicides. This result is promising, as it indicates that well-watered vineyards may not need the application of herbicides. However, drip irrigation is not a feasible agroecological solution when entering an era of water scarcity (Postel, 2000).

Some limitations of this study should be acknowledged. First, the study was performed in a relatively confined alpine valley with homogeneous climate and soil conditions. Additionally, the exploratory design of the study may be considered relatively small. However, it included three cultivars, four treatment replicates, and two growing seasons. The most important limitation of this study is the absence of must and vinification replicates -following harvest, the grapes from the treatment replicates were pooled together for a single vinification. The must sugars for C isotope analysis were separated from the pooled berries per treatment. To avoid this limitation, it would be necessary to produce must and wines per treatment block (n = 4), treatment (n = 4), variety (n = 3), and season (n = 2), resulting in 96 separations and purifications of must sugars and microvinifications. This considerable effort was beyond the scope of this exploratory study. These limitations (no field replicates for must and wines) were the same affecting the 2009-2014 irrigation experiments (Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018).



Fig. 9. Comparison of the $\delta^{13}C_{sugars}-\Psi_{pd}$ (A), $\delta^{13}C_{WSR}-\Psi_{pd}$ (B), C/N- Ψ_{pd} (C), and $\delta^{15}N_{WSR}-\Psi_{pd}$ (D) relationships for Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir vines grown under different soil management practices (BS, GS) and water treatments (DI, NI) during 2020 and 2021. Ψ_{pd} is the abbreviation for predawn leaf water potential. Areas within dashed lines enclosed the values obtained for the same vines grown on bare soils at the same site under different soil water treatments during the 2009–2014 seasons (data from Spangenberg et al., 2017; Spangenberg and Zufferey, 2018, plotted in Fig. S4 to define the fields).

4. Conclusions

This study used an exploratory design to investigate the combined effects of cover cropping and water availability on the carbon and nitrogen levels and stable isotope composition of the WSRs from three grapevine cultivars grown under the same climate and soil conditions. The $\delta^{13} C_{
m WSR}$ and δ^{15} N_{WSR} values correlated well with the stem water potential and the δ^{13} C values of must sugars for the three studied grapevine varieties (Chasselas, Petite Arvine, and Pinot noir) over two consecutive seasons (2020 -2021). The C/N molar ratios and the δ^{15} N_{WSR} values varied strongly with soil water availability and management, indicating an exacerbation of vine-weed competition for N in water-deficient vines. These molecular and isotopic values of wine residues showed a better resolution and separation of the vine groups from different soil management practices and irrigation treatments compared to the field-measured leaf chlorophyll index and the YAN in grape juices. The dual isotope approach not only serves to characterize the water-availability effects on wine but also the degree of N deficit in vines due to the combined effects of soil dryness and weed competition for water and nutrients. Pinot noir vines appear to adapt much better than white grapevines to soil water and N deficits. Chasselas and Petite Arvine vines need to be well watered to avoid deficient uptake of soil N. Drip irrigation is not a sustainable solution, but as an agroecological solution, minimal and efficient irrigation (i.e., with rainwater, lake or river water) will significantly decrease the dose of applied herbicides. This action will alleviate the pressure on winegrowers regarding the time needed for the development of sustainable nonchemical soil management. A possible solution is the introduction of genetically modified grapevine cultivars with higher tolerance to pathogens and high N use efficiency.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162410.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Jorge E. Spangenberg: Conceptualization, Methodology, Data curation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **Vivian Zufferey:** Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing.

Data availability

All data from this study are provided within the manuscript and its Supplementary Material.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interest or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the study reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

The viticulture, oenology, and chemical analysis teams of Agroscope are gratefully acknowledged for their valuable work and collaboration. The organic geochemistry and stable isotope facilities at the Institute of Earth Surface Dynamics have been supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation and the University of Lausanne. The two anonymous reviewers are thanked for their constructive comments, and Dr. Mae Sexauer Gustin is thanked for editorial handling of the manuscript. JES dedicates this paper to the memory of Prof. Johannes C. Hunziker (1937–2019) in recognition of his pioneering contributions to the study of stable isotopes at the University of Lausanne.

References

- Abad, J., Marin, D., Santesteban, L.G., Cibriain, J.F., Sagues, A., 2020. Under-vine cover crops: impact on weed development, yield and grape composition. Oeno One 54, 975–983. https://doi.org/10.20870/oeno-one.2020.54.4.4149.
- Améglio, T., Archer, P., Cohen, M., Valancogne, C., Daudet, F.-A., Dayau, S., Cruiziat, P., 1999. Significance and limits in the use of predawn leaf water potential for tree irrigation. Plant Soil 207, 155–167.
- Aron, P.M., Kennedy, J.A., 2007. Compositional investigation of phenolic polymers isolated from Vitis vinifera L. Cv. Pinot Noir during fermentation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 5670–5680. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0704817.
- Bavougian, C.M., Read, P.E., 2018. Mulch and groundcover effects on soil temperature and moisture, surface reflectance, grapevine water potential, and vineyard weed management. PeerJ 6, e5082. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5082.
- Bell, S.J., Henschke, P.A., 2005. Implications of nitrogen nutrition for grapes, fermentation and wine. Aust. J. Grape Wine Res. 11, 242–295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0238.2005.tb00028.x.
- Biddoccu, M., Ferraris, S., Opsi, F., Cavallo, E., 2016. Long-term monitoring of soil management effects on runoff and soil erosion in sloping vineyards in alto monferrato (North-West Italy). Soil Tillage Res. 155, 176–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2015.07.005.
- Bisson, L.F., Butzke, C.E., 2000. Diagnosis and rectification of stuck and sluggish fermentations. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 51, 168–177.
- Blavet, D., De Noni, G., Le Bissonnais, Y., Leonard, M., Maillo, L., Laurent, J.Y., Asseline, J., Leprun, J.C., Arshad, M.A., Roose, E., 2009. Effect of land use and management on the early stages of soil water erosion in French Mediterranean vineyards. Soil Tillage Res. 106, 124–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.04.010.
- Bond, W., Grundy, A.C., 2001. Non-chemical weed management in organic farming systems. Weed Res. 41, 383–405. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3180.2001.00246.x.
- Brand, W.A., Coplen, T.B., 2012. Stable isotope deltas: tiny, yet robust signatures in nature. Isot. Environ. Health Stud. 48, 393–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/10256016.2012. 666977.
- Bréda, N., Granier, A., Barataud, F., Moyne, C., 1995. Soil water dynamics in an oak stand. I. Soil moisture, water potentials and water uptake by roots. Plant Soil 172, 17–27.
- Buesa, I., Mirás-Avalo, J.M., De Paz, J.M., Visconti, M., Sanz, F., Yeves, A., Guerra, D., Intrigliolo, D.S., 2020. Soil management in semi-arid vineyards: combined effects of organic mulching and no-tillage under different water regimes. Eur. J. Agron. 123, 126198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2020.126198.
- Busse, M.D., Ratcliff, A.W., Shestak, C.J., Powers, R.F., 2001. Glyphosate toxicity and the effects of long-term vegetation control on soil microbial communities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 33, 1777–1789. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(01)00103-1.
- Capello, G., Biddoccu, M., Ferraris, S., Cavallo, E., 2019. Effects of tractor passes on hydrological and soil erosion processes in tilled and grassed vineyards. Water 11, 2118. https:// doi.org/10.3390/w11102118.
- Castagna, A., Csepregi, K., Neugart, S., Zipoli, G., Vecerova, K., Jakab, G., Jug, T., Llorens, L., Martinez-Abaigar, J., Martinez-Luscher, J., Nunez-Olivera, E., Ranieri, A., Schoedl-Hummel, K., Schreiner, M., Teszlak, P., Tittmann, S., Urban, O., Verdaguer, D., Jansen, M.A.K., Hideg, E., 2017. Environmental plasticity of pinot noir grapevine leaves: a transeuropean study of morphological and biochemical changes along a 1,500-km latitudinal climatic gradient. Plant Cell Environ. 40, 2790–2805. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13054.
- Celette, F., Findeling, A., Gary, C., 2009. Competition for nitrogen in an unfertilized intercropping system: the case of an association of grapevine and grass cover in a Mediterranean climate. Europ. J. Agron. 30, 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2008.07. 003.

- Childs, B.C., Bohlscheid, J.C., Edwards, C.G., 2015. Impact of available nitrogen and sugar concentration in musts on alcoholic fermentation and subsequent wine spoilage by brettanomyces bruxellensis. Food Microbiol. 46, 604–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fm.2014.10.006.
- Chone, X., van Leeuwen, C., Dubourdieu, D., Gaudillere, J.P., 2001. Stem water potential is a sensitive indicator of grapevine water status. Ann. Bot. 87, 477–483. https://doi.org/10. 1006/anbo.2000.1361.
- Delabays, N., Pétremand, G., Fleury, D., 2016. Comparaison de six mélanges pour l'enherbement viticole dans l'arc lémanique. Revue Suisse Vitic. Arboric. Hortic. 48, 322–329.
- Delpuech, X., Metay, A., 2018. Adapting cover crop soil coverage to soil depth to limit competition for water in a Mediterranean vineyard. Eur. J. Agron. 97, 60–69. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eja.2018.04.013.
- Ferrero, A., Usowicz, B., Lipiec, J., 2005. Effects of tractor traffic on spatial variability of soil strength and water content in grass covered and cultivated sloping vineyard. Soil Tillage Res. 84, 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2004.10.003.
- Garcia, L., Celette, F., Gary, C., Ripoche, A., Valdes-Gomez, H., Metay, A., 2018. Management of service crops for the provision of ecosystem services in vineyards: a review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 251, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.09.030.
- Garcia-Diaz, A., Marques, M.J., Sastre, B., Bienes, R., 2018. Labile and stable soil organic carbon and physical improvements using groundcovers in vineyards from Central Spain. Sci. Total Environ. 621, 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2017.11.240.
- Garde-Cerdan, T., Ancin-Azpilicueta, C., 2008. Effect of the addition of different quantities of amino acids to nitrogen-deficient must on the formation of esters, alcohols, and acids during wine alcoholic fermentation. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. 41, 501–510. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.lwt.2007.03.018.
- Garde-Cerdán, T., Portu, R.L.J., Gonzalez-Arenzana, L., Lopez-Alfaro, I., Santamaria, P., 2014. Study of the effects of proline, phenylalanine, and urea foliar application to tempranillo vineyards on grape amino acid content. Comparison with commercial nitrogen fertilisers. Food Chem. 163, 136–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.04.101.
- Gaudillère, J.P., Van Leeuwen, C., Ollat, N., 2002. Carbon isotope composition of sugars in grapevine, an integrated indicator of vineyard water status. J. Exp. Bot. 53, 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1093/jexbot/53.369.757.
- Gill, J.P.K., Sethi, N., Mohan, A., Datta, S., Girdhar, M., 2018. Glyphosate toxicity for animals. Environ. Chem. Lett. 16, 401–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-017-0689-0.
- Goncalves, P., Nobrega, L., Monteiro, A., Pedreiras, P., Rodrigues, P., Esteves, F., 2021. SheepIT, an e-shepherd system for weed control in vineyards: experimental results and lessons learned. Animals 11 (9), 2626. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11092625.
- Gouthu, S., Skinkis, P.A., Morre, J., Maier, C.S., Deluc, L.G., 2012. Berry nitrogen status altered by cover cropping: effects on berry hormone dynamics, growth and amino acid composition of Pinot Noir. Food Chem. 135, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem. 2012.04.019.
- Guerra, B., Steenwerth, K., 2012. Influence of floor management technique on grapevine growth, disease pressure, and juice and wine composition: a review. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 63, 149–164. https://doi.org/10.5344/ajev.2011.10001.

Hartwig, N.L., Ammon, H.U., 2002. Cover crops and living mulches. Weed Sci. 50, 688-699.

Heap, I., Duke, S.O., 2018. Overview of glyphosate-resistant weeds worldwide. Pest Manag. Sci. 74, 1040–1049. https://doi.org/10.1614/0043-1745(2002)050[0688:AIACCA]2.0. CO;2.

- Hendgen, M., Hoppe, B., Doring, J., Friedel, M., Kauer, R., Frisch, M., Dahl, A., Kellner, H., 2018. Effects of different management regimes on microbial biodiversity in vineyard soils. Sci. Rep. 8, 9393. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27743-0.
- Hilbert, G., Soyer, J.P., Molot, C., Giraudon, J., Milin, S., Gaudillere, J.P., 2003. Effects of nitrogen supply on must quality and anthocyanin accumulation in berries of cv. Merlot. Vitis 42, 69–76.
- Hobbie, E.A., Werner, R.A., 2004. Intramolecular, compound-specific, and bulk carbon isotope patterns in C-3 and C-4 plants: a review and synthesis. New Phytol. 161, 371–385. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.00970.x.
- Hostetler, G.L., Merwin, I.A., Brown, M.G., Padilla-Zakour, O., 2007. Influence of undervine floor management on weed competition, vine nutrition, and yields of Pinot Noir. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 58, 421–430.
- Ingels, C.A., Scow, K.M., Whisson, D.A., Drenovsky, R.E., 2005. Effects of cover crops on grapevines, yield, juice composition, soil microbial ecology, and gopher activity. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 56, 19 9.
- Jiranek, V., Langridge, P., Henschke, P.A., 1995. Amino-acid and ammonium utilization by Saccharomyces cerevisiae wine yeasts from a chemically defined medium. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 46, 75–83.
- Keller, M., 2015. The Science of Grapevines. third ed. Elsevier.
- Lopez-Urrea, R., Sanchez, J.M., Montoro, A., Manas, F., Intrigliolo, D.S., 2020. Effect of using pruning waste as an organic mulching on a drip-irrigated vineyard evapotranspiration under a semi-arid climate. Agric. For. Meteorol. 291, 108064. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.aerformet.2020.108064.
- Lopez-Vicente, M., Calvo-Seas, E., Alvarez, S., Cerda, A., 2020. Effectiveness of cover crops to reduce loss of soil organic matter in a rainfed vineyard. Land 9, 230. https://doi.org/10. 3390/land9070230.
- Mandl, K., Cantelmo, C., Gruber, E., Faber, F., Friedrich, B., Zaller, J.G., 2018. Effects of glyphosate-, glufosinate- and flazasulfuron-based herbicides on soil microorganisms in a vineyard. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 101, 562–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00128-018-2438-x.
- Mann, R.M., Bidwell, J.R., 1999. The toxicity of glyphosate and several glyphosate formulations to four species of southwestern Australian frogs. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 36, 193–199.
- Martinez, F.S., Baez, C.G.G., Monreal, F.J.C., Peregrina, F., 2021. Long-range correlations of soil water content time series under tillage and different cover crops in a semi-arid vineyard. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 72, 623–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.13036.

J.E. Spangenberg, V. Zufferey

- Matthews, M.A., Ishii, R., Anderson, M.M., Omahony, M., 1990. Dependence of wine sensory attributes on vine water status. J. Sci. Food Agricul. 51, 321–335.
- Mirás-Avalos, J.M., et al., 2020. Agronomic practices for reducing soil erosion in hillside vineyards under Atlantic climatic conditions (Galicia, Spain). Soil Syst. 4 (2), 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems4020019.
- Muscas, E., Cocco, A., Mercenaro, L., Cabras, M., Lentini, A., Porqueddu, C., Nieddu, G., 2017. Effects of vineyard floor cover crops on grapevine vigor, yield, and fruit quality, and the development of the vine mealybug under a Mediterranean climate. AgricEcosyst. Environ. 237, 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.035.
- Nachtergaele, J., Poesen, J., van Wesemael, B., 1998. Gravel mulching in vineyards of southern Switzerland. Soil Tillage Res. 46, 51–59.
- Nacry, P., Bouguyon, E., Gojon, A., 2013. Nitrogen acquisition by roots: physiological and developmental mechanisms ensuring plant adaptation to a fluctuating resource. Plant Soil 370, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1645-9.
- Niles, M.T., Garrett, R.D., Walsh, D., 2017. Ecological and economic benefits of integrating sheep into viticulture production. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 38 (2018), 2. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13593-017-0478-y.
- Nouri, H., Stokvis, B., Galindo, A., Blatchford, M., Hoekstra, A.Y., 2019. Water scarcity alleviation through water footprint reduction in agriculture: the effect of soil mulching and drip irrigation. Sci. Total Environ. 653, 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2018.10.311.
- Olejar, K.J., Vasconcelos, M.C., King, P.D., Smart, R.E., Ball, K., Field, S.K., 2021. Herbicide reduction through the use of weedmat undervine treatment and the lack of impact on the aromatic profile and volatile composition of Malbec wines. Food Chem. 343, 128474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.128474.
- Pertot, I., Caffi, T., Rossi, V., Mugnai, L., Hoffmann, C., Grando, M.S., Gary, C., Lafond, D., Duso, C., Thiery, D., Mazzoni, V., Anfora, G., 2017. A critical review of plant protection tools for reducing pesticide use on grapevine and new perspectives for the implementation of IPM in viticulture. Crop Prot. 97, 70–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro. 2016.11.025.
- Petrovic, G., Kidd, M., Buica, A., 2019. A statistical exploration of data to identify the role of cultivar and origin in the concentration and composition of yeast assimilable nitrogen. Food Chem. 276, 528–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.10.063.
- Postel, S.L., 2000. Entering an era of water scarcity: the challenges ahead. Ecol. Appl. 10, 941–948. https://doi.org/10.2307/2641009.
- Prosdocimi, M., Jordan, A., Tarolli, P., Keesstra, S., Novara, A., Cerda, A., 2016. The immediate effectiveness of barley straw mulch in reducing soil erodibility and surface runoff generation in Mediterranean vineyards. Sci. Total Environ. 547, 323–330. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.076.
- Raclot, D., Le Bissonnais, Y., Louchart, X., Andrieux, P., Moussa, R., Voltz, M., 2009. Soil tillage and scale effects on erosion from fields to catchment in a Mediterranean vineyard area. Agric. Ecosys. Environ. 134, 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2009.06. 019.
- Reineke, A., Thiery, D., 2016. Grapevine insect pests and their natural enemies in the age of global warming. J. Pest. Sci. 89, 313–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-016-0761-8.
- Sammons, R.D., Gaines, T.A., 2014. Glyphosate resistance: state of knowledge. Pest Manag. Sci. 70, 1367–1377. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.3743.
- Schoof, N., Kirmer, A., Hörl, J., Luick, R., Tischew, S., Breuer, M., Fischer, F., Müller, S., von Königslöw, V., 2021. Sheep in the vineyard: first insights into a new integrated crop– livestock system in Central Europe. Sustainability 12, 12340. https://doi.org/10.3390/ sul32212340.
- Schreiner, R.P., Osborne, J., Skinkis, P.A., 2018. Nitrogen requirements of pinot noir based on growth parameters, must composition, and fermentation behavior. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 69, 45–58. https://doi.org/10.5344/ajev.2017.17043.
- Spangenberg, J.E., Zufferey, V., 2018. Changes in soil water availability in vineyards can be traced by the carbon and nitrogen isotope composition of dried wines. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 178–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.078.
- Spangenberg, J.E., Zufferey, V., 2019. Carbon isotope compositions of whole wine, wine solid residue, and wine ethanol, determined by EA/IRMS and GC/C/IRMS, can record the vine water status-a comparative reappraisal. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 411, 2031–2043. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00216-019-01625-4.
- Spangenberg, J.E., Vogiatzaki, M., Zufferey, V., 2017. Gas chromatography and isotope ratio mass spectrometry of pinot noir wine volatile compounds (\u03d813C) and solid residues (\u03d813C, \u03d815N) for the reassessment of vineyard water-status. J. Chromatogr. A 1517, 142–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2017.08.038.
- Spangenberg, J.E., Schweizer, M., Zufferey, V., 2020. Shifts in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope composition and epicuticular lipids in leaves reflect early water-stress in vineyards. Sci. Total Environ. 739, 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140343.

- Spring, J.L., Zufferey, V., 2000. Intérêt de la détermination de l'indice chlorophyllien du feuillage en viticulture. Revue Suisse Vitic. Arboric. Hortic. 32, 323–328. https://ira. agroscope.ch/fr-CH/publication/5776.
- Spring, J.L., Zufferey, V., Verdenal, T., Viret, O., 2012. Nitrogen dilution in excessive canopy of cvs. Chasselas and Pinot Noir. J. Int. Sci. Vigne Vin. 46, 233–240.
- Steenwerth, K., Belina, K.M., 2008. Cover crops and cultivation: impacts on soil N dynamics and microbiological function in a Mediterranean vineyard agroecosystem. Appl. Soil Ecol. 40, 370–380.
- Steenwerth, K.L., McElrone, A.J., Calderon-Orellana, A., Hanifin, R.C., Storm, C., Collatz, W., Manuck, C., 2013. Cover crops and tillage in a mature merlot vineyard show few effects on grapevines. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 64, 515–521. https://doi.org/10.5344/ajev.2013. 12119.
- Takano, H.K., Dayan, F.E., 2020. Glufosinate-ammonium: a review of the current state of knowledge. Pest Manag. Sci. 76, 3911–3925. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.5965.
- Tarazona, J.V., Court-Marques, D., Tiramani, M., Reich, H., Pfeil, R., Istace, F., Crivellente, F., 2017. Glyphosate toxicity and carcinogenicity: a review of the scientific basis of the European Union assessment and its differences with IARC. Arch. Toxicol. 91, 2723–2743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-017-1962-5.
- Teasdale, J.R., 1996. Contribution of cover crops to weed management in sustainable agricultural systems. J. Prod. Agric. 9, 475–479. https://doi.org/10.2134/jpa1996.0475.
- Tesic, D., Keller, M., Hutton, R.J., 2007. Influence of vineyard floor management practices on grapevine vegetative growth, yield, and fruit composition. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 58, 1–11.
- Trigo-Córdoba, E., Bouzas-Cid, Y., Orriols-Fernández, I., Díaz-Losada, E., Mirás-Avalos, J.M., 2015. Influence of cover crop treatments on the performance of a vineyard in a humid region. Span. J. Agric. Res. 13 (4), e0907. https://doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2015134-8265.
- van Bruggen, A.H.C., He, M.M., Shin, K., Mai, V., Jeong, K.C., Finckh, M.R., Morris, J.G., 2018. Environmental and health effects of the herbicide glyphosate. Sci. Total Environ. 616, 255–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.309.
- van Leeuwen, C., Tregoat, O., Chone, X., Bois, B., Pernet, D., Gaudillere, J.P., 2009. Vine water status is a key factor in grape ripening and vintage quality for red Bordeaux wine. How can it be assessed for vineyard management purposes? J. Int. Sci. Vigne Vin. 43, 121–134. https://doi.org/10.20870/oeno-one.2009.43.3.798.
- van Straalen, N.M., Legler, J., 2018. Decision-making in a storm of discontent. Science 360 (6392), 958–960. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat0567.
- Vukicevich, E., Lowery, T., Bowen, P., Urbez-Torres, J.R., Hart, M., 2016. Cover crops to increase soil microbial diversity and mitigate decline in perennial agricultureA review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 36, 48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-016-0385-7.
- Wezel, A., Casagrande, M., Celette, F., Vian, J.F., Ferrer, A., Peigne, J., 2014. Agroecological practices for sustainable agricultureA review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 34 (1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0180-7.
- Zaller, J.G., Cantelmo, C., Dos Santos, G., Muther, S., Gruber, E., Pallua, P., Mandl, K., Friedrich, B., Hofstetter, I., Schmuckenschlager, B., Faber, F., 2018. Herbicides in vineyards reduce grapevine root mycorrhization and alter soil microorganisms and the nutrient composition in grapevine roots, leaves, xylem sap and grape juice. Environ. Sci. Poll. Res. 25, 23215–23226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-2422-3.
- Zietsman, A.J.J., Moore, J.P., Fangel, J.U., Willats, W.G.T., Trygg, J., Vivier, M.A., 2015. Following the compositional changes of fresh grape skin cell walls during the fermentation process in the presence and absence of maceration enzymes. J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 2798–2810. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf505200m.
- Zufferey, V., Spring, J.L., Verdenal, T., Dienes, A., Belcher, S., Lorenzini, F., Koestel, C., Rosti, J., Gindro, K., Spangenberg, J., Viret, O., 2017. Influence of water stress on plant hydraulics, gas exchange, berry composition and quality of Pinot Noir wines in Switzerland. Oeno One 51, 37–57. https://doi.org/10.20870/oeno-one.2017.51.1.1314.
- Zufferey, V., Verdenal, T., Dienes, A., Belcher, S., Lorenzini, F., Koestel, C., Rosti, J., Gindro, K., Spangenberg, J.E., Viret, O., Spring, J.L., 2018. The impact of plant water status on the gas exchange, berry composition and wine quality of Chasselas grapes in Switzerland. Oeno One 52, 347–361. https://doi.org/10.20870/oeno-one.2018.52.4. 2181.
- Zufferey, V., Verdenal, T., Dienes, A., Belcher, S., Lorenzini, F., Koestel, C., Blackford, M., Bourdin, G., Gindro, K., Spangenberg, J.E., Rosti, J., Viret, O., Carlen, C., Spring, J.L., 2020. The influence of vine water regime on the leaf gas exchange, berry composition and wine quality of arvine grapes in Switzerland. Oeno One 54, 553–568. https://doi. org/10.20870/oeno-one.2020.54.3.3106.